IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EMORY HOBBS HUTCHISON, JR.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CASE NO. 2009-TS-01672

RUTCHEL CLARIN HUTCHISON

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT EMORY HOBBS HUTCHISON, JR.

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LOWNDES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2008-0654-d

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

HAL H. H. MCCLANAHAN, III ATTORNEY-AT-LAW 518 2ND AVENUE NORTH P. O. BOX 1091 COLUMBUS, MS 39703-1091 TELEPHONE: (662) 327-3154

FACSIMILE: (662) 328-0901 EMAIL: threehlaw@bellsouth.net

MS BAR NO

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

EMORY HOBBS HUTCHISON, JR.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2009-TS-01672

RUTCHEL CLARIN HUTCHISON

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Appellant appeals the decision of the Trial Court on the following basis:

I

The Chancellor abused his discretion or was manifestly wrong by not awarding primary physical custody of the minor children Emory Hobbs Hutchison, III, born July 6, 2000; and Richard Hobbs Hutchison, born February 24, 2003, to the father Emory Hutchison in the Opinion and Judgment dated September 9, 2009, and the Order Overruling the Motion to Reconsider dated September 14, 2009.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED on this the day of May, 2010.

EMORY HUTCHISON, Plaintiff/Appellant

Hal H. H. McClanahan, III, MSB#2220 Attorney-at-Law

518 2nd Avenue North

P. O. Box 1091

Columbus, MS 39703-1091

(662) 327-3154 telephone

(662) 328-0901 facsimile

threehlaw@bellsouth.net

EMORY HOBBS HUTCHISON, JR.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2009-TS-01672

RUTCHEL CLARIN HUTCHISON

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The most sufficient Statement of the Case is contained in the first three (3) pages of the Opinion of the Court of August 27, 2009, included in the trial pleadings (T.P. 76-78, R.E. 4-6).

. [

While the mother is a fully healthy thirty-nine (39) year old woman at the time of the divorce, the thirty-seven (37) year old father has been effectively disabled since 2001 after he underwent back surgery to repair injuries to his back suffered while on active duty in the United States Armed Forces. Emory had his initial surgery in April or May of 2001. In 2002, he was awarded total disability benefits through the VA with a 60% disability to the body as a whole (T.T. 115, R.E.26-27, 30-39, Exhibit P-5). In 2003, he was awarded total Social Security Disability (Exhibit P-6, R.E. 40-45). In 2007, Emory underwent shoulder surgery and got a Social Security Continuing Disability Report. (Exhibit D-3, R.E. 50-64) The crucial fact in the 2001 and 2007 reports is that none of them show a progression of the disability beyond 60%. In the spring of 2009 he was using a TENS medicine for pain relief and getting great benefits. This continued stabilization of his condition at the time of the trial is further documented in a post-trial exhibit to the trial court in an agreed submission by both parties showing that in May of 2009, his medical condition was unchanged.

In October of 2008, Rutchel, by agreement with Emory in an effort to make additional money to pay off their credit card debt, agreed to go to Iraq as a base exchange employee. From October of 2008 up until the trial in May of 2009, Emory had the continued primary physical custody of both of the minor children, Emory Hobbs Hutchison, III, born July 6, 2000; and Richard Hobbs Hutchison, born February 24, 2003. He had the limited assistance of his mother-in-law Daylinda, which will be set forth hereinafter in the raising of the children. During this time frame Emory, who was sixty percent (60%) disabled by the VA and totally permanently disabled by the Social Security Adminstration, successfully raised the two minor boys with the older child making the honors lists for academics with the Principal in the first grade (T.T. 68-69, R.E.26-27) and Emory receiving the Parent of the Year award for his efforts in raising the children (T.T.56-57, R.E.28-29).

Ш

In the trial of the case the actual medical testimony consisted of the entry of the Emory's status report of 2001 to the VA, the disability determinations of the VA in 2002 the Social Security Disability determination in 2003 and the SSA Continuing Disability Report in 2007(Exhibits D-2, P-5, P-6, D-3 and R.E.30-64).

IV

The trial was held on May 20 and 21, 2009. Subsequent to the trial another continuing disability report from the Veteran's Administration was received by the Appellant. By agreement with counsel opposite it was to be submitted to the trial court for its consideration in reaching its opinion. It was included as part of Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend. Copies all of the correspondence to the Court, counsel opposite and undersigned are attached (R.E.159-195). In

the Continuing Disability Report of 2009, it shows no change in the Appellant's condition or any progression of disability. These reports were the only medical testimony before the Court.

V

On August 27, 2009, the Court entered its Opinion awarding custody of the minor children to the Appellee (T.P. 76-91, R.E.4-19). The opinion was followed by the entry of the Final Decree of Divorce on September 9, 2009 (T.P.100-102, R.E. 20-22), a Motion to Alter or Amend filed on September 14, 2009 (T.T.106-136, R.E.67-195), and overruled on the same day by the trial court (T.P.146-148 R.E.23-25).

EMORY HOBBS HUTCHISON, JR.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2009-TS-01672

RUTCHEL CLARIN HUTCHISON

APPELLEE

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

APPELLANT CONTENDS THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION OR WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG IN AWARDING THE PRIMARY PHYSICAL CUSTODY OF THE MINOR CHILDREN TO THE APPELLEE IN ITS DECREE OF SEPTEMBER 9, 2009, AND THE ORDER OF SEPTEMBER 14, 2009 OVERRULING THE MOTION TO VACATE AND SET ASIDE ON REQUESTS THAT THE CUSTODY BE AWARDED TO HIM.

EMORY HOBBS HUTCHISON, JR.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2009-TS-01672

RUTCHEL CLARIN HUTCHISON

APPELLEE

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT IS MANIFESTLY WRONG OR ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN AWARDING THE PRIMARY PHYSICAL CUSTODY OF THE MINOR CHILDREN TO THE APPELLEE.

This standard for review utilized by this court on a case decided on conflcting evidence historically has been that the supreme court will not overturn a chancellor's judgment when supported by susbstantial evidnce unless the trial court abused its discretion, was manifely wrong or an erroneous legal standard was used. While meaning no disrespect to the trial court, in the instant case he did abuse his discretion and/or was manifestly wrong *Chapel vs. Chapel*, 876 So.2d 290(293), *Townsend vs. Townsend* 859 So.2d 370, AND *McBride vs. Jones*, 803 So.2d 1168, 1169.

The basis for the request that the trial court be overruled is that it has based its custody decision on facts not in evidence and made assumptionS about Appellant's health that are not supported in the record, *Rodgors vs. Taylor*, 755 So.2d 33, *McAdory vs. McAdory*, 608 So.2d 695, and *Hammett vs. Woods*, 602 So.2d 825. The two primary areas that the trial court has abused its discretion or is manifestly wrong are (1) basing its opinion on the amount of care supposedly provided by the maternal grandmother in keeping the children during the year and a half absence of the Appellee and (2) basing its decision on Emory's inability to adequately care for the children on medical information not found in the record. A third area is the fact that the

Chancellor attached absolutely no importance to the fact that Rutchel had already had two (2) children by a previous marriage and either lost or gave them up in the Final Decree in Florida. Either way it is a definite negative on her capabilities to take care of the children by this marriage. In short, while meaning absolutely no disrespect to the trial court, its decision should be overturned just as this Court overruled the Chancellor in <u>Lowery vs. Lowery</u>, 28 So.3d 274, and <u>Lawrence vs. Lawrence</u>, 956 So.2d 251.

A. LACK OF PROOF OF MOTHER-IN-LAW'S INVOLVEMENT

(1)

The trial court has totally ignored the testimony of the witness Charlton Lester, III, the first cousin of the Appellant, and minimalized the uncontradicted testimony of Emory, and about the mother-in-law's lack of contribution to the raising of the children in the crucial year and a half prior to trial when Rutchel was absent. Finally, the trial court took no notice of the fact that the Appellee never called her own mother to substantiate her claim to the mother-in-law's contribution when the mother-in-law was physically available for trial on both days and not called (T.T. 248-249, R.E.65-66). The parties live in Columbus, Mississippi; and the trial was held in Starkville Mississippi, a distance of twenty-two miles one way.

(2)

One of the principal errors made by the trial court is the complete disregarding of the uncontradicted testimony of Charlton Lester, III. Lester is a first cousin of Emory, who had personal firsthand knowledge of Emory's health both in 2001 after the initial back surgery and his ability to take care of his child at that point together (T.T.11-12, 38-40, R.E.67-71), with Emory's condition starting in August 2008 and continuing up through the trial date of May 20-

21, 2009 (T.T.14-18, 40-44, R.E.72-80). The reason that the trial court's disregard of or non-reliance on the uncontradicted testimony of Lester is so crucial is that it establishes unequivocally that even with whatever pain Emory was suffering in 2001 before the disability determinations were made by the VA in 2002 and the Social Security Administration in 2003 and again from 2007 to the trial in 2009 following the VA continuing assessment in 2007 Emory was able to take care of his children even with permanent disability ratings.

(3)

In 2001 and 2002 Lester saw Emory and Rutchel generally on a bi-weekly to monthly basis (T.T. 12, R.E. page 80A). Emory would do everything on a daily basis to take care of Emory, III, while Rutchel was at work. His back injury did not affect his ability to take care of his children. Despite whatever the initial VA reports stated as pointed out by the Defense Counsel, Emory was able, through the pain, to take care of his child at that point.

(4)

In August or September of 2008, Lester moved back in with Emory and resided with him until the time of the trial (T.T. 14, R.E. 81). During this period of time he had a daily observation of Emory's ability to take care of the children, as well as what Daylinda, Rutchel's mother did insofar as her taking care of the children. Lester was positive that during this nine month period, with the exception of October and possibly November, that Emory had a system of taking care of the children. When he got up every morning at 5:30, he got everything organized for them to go to school and got them to school. Even though Emory was totally disabled at this particular point, Emory was able to adequately take care of both of his children. (T.T. 15-16, 41-42, R.E. 82-55). Equally important is the fact that Daylinda helped little, if any, on a daily basis in taking care of the children (T.T. 16, R.E. 83). In fact, she would get up in the

morning, leave the house and be gone basically the entire day and come back in late at night. During this same period of time, Lester is positive that the grandmother did not have a major role in the care of the children and had no personal knowledge of Daylinda laying out the children's books and clothes or ironing. Emory basically did all of that (T.T. 27-29, R.E. 86-88). Lester was also positive that he and Emory did all of the yard work while Daylinda puttered with the plants (T.T. 29, R.E. 88). The critical point for Lester's testimony (T.T. 30-44, R.E.89-103) is that in 2001 and again in 2008, despite his pain and medication, Emory could and did take care of his children. During this same period of time he won the Parent of the Year at Emory, III's school for taking care of his child and his education all while being disabled (T.T. 55-57, R.E. 104-106). Consequently, the uncontradicted record is that despite whatever medications he may have had, Emory was able to function through the pain and take care of the children. Nowhere in the record has this testimony been contradicted by sworn testimony for the critical year of 2008 and 2009 when Rutchel was not even around. The most glaring thing is that Daylinda was never called to testify to substantiate what she did or dispute what Rutchel said.

(5)

The second equally, if not more important, part of Lester's testimony is that it unequivocally demonstrates that Daylinda, the mother of the Defendant Rutchel Hutchison, had little, if any, effect in the daily lives of the children during the crucial year and a half that Emory had the primary physical custody from October 2008 to May 2009 of the children (T.T. 16, 27-29, 41-42 R.E. 107-112). The reason Lester's uncontradicted testimony about the lack of attention by the grandmother from August 2008 to May 2009 is so crucial is that the Court has placed great reliance in its Opinion on the purported services in the same time frame supposedly given by the grandmother, who was never called to testify live to support her daughter in the trial

(T.T. 248-249, R.E.113-114). Consequently, the trial court for the crucial period of time during the year that Rutchel was in Iraq and up to the trial had absolutely no credible witness to contradict the testimony that Emory Hutchison virtually singlehandedly took care of the children by himself and equally important any corroboration by the mother-in-law who was available for trial as to what she did. Rutchel definitely could not do it, because she was in Iraq.

B. LACK OF MEDICAL EVIDENCE FOR OPINION

(6)

The other big problem with the trial court's Opinion is its reliance on medical evidence that is not in the record and of which the court had no proof. As previously stated, the medical evidence testimony before the court was Exhibits P-5, P-6, D-2 and D-3 (R.E. 30-64). All of these reports are the determination of disability and the reports made to the Veteran's Administration as prepared by Rutchel and signed by Emory. The initial spinal surgery in 2001, which he has two (2) rods and six (6) screws placed in his back (T.T. 86, R.E.115). This was followed by a shoulder surgery in 2007 (T.T. 163, R.E.116) and then the use of the TENS unit in 2009 immediately before the trial for alleviation of pain. Because of the success in relieving pain and increasing his mobility, Emory expects to be granted a permanent TENS Unit (T.T. 34-35, 52-54, R.E.117-138). In neither D-2 or D-3 does the court have any evidence that Emory's condition will further deteriorate.

(7)

Following the trial, by agreement with the Defendant the May 21, 2009, disability determination report of the VA was forwarded to the trial court as set forth hereinabove. It also shows no deterioration of Emory's health that evidences a decrease in Emory's ability to properly care for his children. More importantly it does not show any evidence of a decline or

progression of the disability. The crucial point here is that this is all of the medical testimony of record before the trial court upon which it could make its opinion. The problem is that on T.P. 81, R.E. 9 of the Opinion of the Court, the trial court says, "it is without question that as a person ages, his/her ability to cope with medical problems becomes more acute." There is no, however, proof before the Court that Emory's health is declining or getting worse. Second, on T.P. 83 R.E. 11 of the Trial Record, the trial court makes the statement with reference to the Emory's health that, "his medical condition, based on the testimony will only decline." The problem is that there is absolutely no medical testimony to that effect. Consequently, the Court is making a determination on the unsubstantiated belief that at some undetermined point in time Emory Hutchison's health is going to decline to the point that he cannot take care of his children.

(8)

What the trial court also overlooked is Emory's testimony that since 2007 with the changing of the medication his capacity to take care of his children has materially *increased*. Further, the use of the TENS unit materially reduces the pain, which he lives with on a constant basis, and improving his ability to take care of the children. (T.T. 52-62, R.E.196-206)

(9)

The Appellee attempted to make hay of the fact that for some time he had been taking Wellbutrin and Cymbalta, two (2) anti-depressants. The problem is, according to Emory, these medications were for the purposes of pain management, which is a common practice in medicine, not for psychological problems (T.T. 60, R.E. 139). Emory has never been treated by a psychiatrist or a psychologist for any type of medical illness (T.T. 249, R.E. 140). Overall, he has improved in his ability to take care of the children because of the changes in medication (T.T. 240, R.E. 141). In short, from a crucial two (2) year period when the mother was out of the

country, Emory successfully took care of Emory, III and Richard. The assistance, if any, by the maternal grandmother was limited at best. She would make sure that the children's clothes were put out so Emory could get them dressed at 5:30 a.m. for school (T.T. 61, R.E. 141) and she did the laundry. Otherwise she was not home, left early for work and got home anywhere from 4:30 to 9:30 p.m. (T.T. 16. 27-29, 69, R.E. 142-146). With his medical condition improving and there being no proof to the contrary in the record that his healthy is decreasing, the testimony before the trial court proves unequivocally that he was the better of the two (2) to have custody of the children.

C. FAILURE TO CONSIDER LOSS OF CUSTODY OF CHILDREN IN PREVIOUS DIVORCE AGAINST FITNESS OF THE MOTHER.

Finally, for whatever reason, the trial court in making its assessments of the capabilities of each parent to take are of the children overlooked a crucial point. Rutchel does not have the custody of her two (2) children by the first marriage. She has to pay child support for both of them (T.T. 183, Exhibit D-1, and R.E. 147-158). Consequently, the trial court had before it the fact that for whatever reason the Appellee had already lost two (2) children in a custody proceeding in the State of Florida. Regardless of this fact, the trial court awarded the custody of the children to her despite Emory's proof of what he did in a solid year without assistance and no credible proof to the contrary.

CONCLUSION

For all of the above reason, Appellant respectfully requests that the Court overrule the Chancellor's Orders of September 9, 2009, and September 14, 2009, awarding custody of the minor children to the Appellant.