SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-01672

EMORY HOBBS HUTCHISON, JR.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

RUTCHEL CLARIN HUTCHISON

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LOWNDES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-01672

EMORY HOBBS HUTCHISON, JR.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

RUTCHEL CLARIN HUTCHISON

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

EMORY HAS RAISED THE FOLLOWING ISSUES ON APPEAL:

THE CHANCELLOR ABUSED HIS DISCRETION OR WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG BY NOT AWARDING PRIMARY PHYSICAL CUSTODY OF THE MINOR CHILDREN, EMORY HOBBS HUTCHISON, III, BORN JULY 6, 2000 AND RICHARD HOBBS HUTCHISON, BORN FEBRUARY 24, 2003, TO THE FATHER, EMORY HUTCHISON, IN THE OPINION AND JUDGMENT DATED SEPTEMBER 9, 2009, AND THE ORDER OVERRULING THE MOTION TO RECONSIDER DATED SEPTEMBER 14, 2009.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

On September 15, 2008, in the Chancery Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi, Emory filed an Original Complaint for Divorce seeking a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, adultery and/or irreconcilable differences. Emory sought custody of their 2 children, Emory Hobbs Hutchison, III, born July 6, 2000, who was 8 years old at the time of the filing of the divorce and Richard Hobbs Hutchison, born February 24, 2003, who was 5 years old at the time of the filing of the divorce.

On October 20, 2008, Rutchel filed an Answer to Complaint for Divorce and Cross-Complaint for Divorce seeking a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, uncondoned adultery and in the alternative, irreconcilable differences. Rutchel sought custody of their 2 children. On October 24, 2008, Emory filed a Denial of Affirmative Matters Raised in Answer to Complaint for Divorce and Answer to Cross-Complaint for Divorce.

On November 5, 2008, the Court entered a Temporary Order awarding temporary custody of the 2 children, Emory Hobbs Hutchison, III and Richard Hobbs Hutchison to Emory. Rutchel was awarded standard visitation. Rutchel was ordered to pay Emory temporary child support in the amount of \$850.00 per month, which was later reduced to \$488.00 per month.

On May 20, 2009, the parties presented to the Court an Agreed Order withdrawing all pleadings inconsistent with an application to the Court for a divorce on the grounds of irreconcilable differences and an Order Withdrawing Fault Grounds which contained a list of issues the parties wanted the Court to decide, two of which were child custody and child support.

The trial was held on May 20, 2009 and May 21, 2009. The Judge filed his opinion on August 27, 2009, wherein he awarded the parties joint legal custody of their 2 children, awarded Rutchel physical custody and awarded Emory reasonable rights of visitation. The Final Decree of Divorce was signed and filed by the Court on September 9, 2009. On September 14,2009, Emory filed a Motion to Stay Enforcement of Decree and a Motion to Alter or Amend. On September 14, 2009, Rutchel filed an Objection to Motion to Stay Enforcement of Decree and an Objection to Motion to Alter or Amend. On September 14, 2009, the Court signed and filed its Order denying both motions.

Aggrieved by the Court's decision awarding custody of the 2 children to Rutchel, Emory appeals to this Court.

B. FACTS

Emory and Rutchel were legally married in Panama City, Florida on October 1, 1999. They lived together as husband and wife until their final separation in February of 2008 in Lowndes County, Mississippi and they have not lived together since as husband and wife. Two (2) children were born to the marriage, Emory Hobbs Hutchison, III, born July 6, 2000, age 8 at the time of trial

and Richard Hobbs Hutchison, born February 24, 2003, age 6 at the time of trial. (R6) At the time of trial, Emory was 37 years old and disabled. (R65) At the time of trial, Rutchel was 39 years old and in very good health. (R105-106)

While in the Air Force in 1997, Emory had an accident that injured his back. Emory and Rutchel were married on October 1, 1999. Their first child, Emory Hobbs Hutchison, III, was born July 6, 2000. Emory had back surgery in June 2001. He had 2 rods and 6 screws put in his lower back from L4 to S1. In August of 2001, Emory filed claims for military disability and social security disability. On September 25, 2001, Emory filled out a form in support of his military disability. Emory received a letter from the Department of Veterans Affairs dated March 25, 2002, in which he was awarded total military disability benefits with a 60% disability rating to the body as a whole. Their second child, Richard Hobbs Hutchison, was born February 24, 2003. Emory also received a written decision from the Social Security Administration dated December 16, 2003, in which he was awarded total permanent disability benefits. On July 7, 2007, Emory filled out a Continuing Disability Review Report with the Social Security Administration. (R6,8,20,45,48-50,56,113-114, Exh. D-2, D-3, P-5, P-6)

Emory and Rutchel married October 1, 1999 in Florida. Immediately after they were married, Emory got orders to report to Holloman, New Mexico. They lived in Holloman from October 1999 until July 2001. (R113) Emory was discharged from the Air Force after his back surgery in June 2001 and the family relocated to Florida in July or August 2001. (R116) Rutchel took care of their oldest child from his birth until they moved to Florida because Emory was having a lot of back problems and he was not able to do very much. (R116) Rutchel also had to do all of the physical work, household work and cooking. She would cook before she went to work to make sure Emory had food for lunch and dinner. She washed the dishes, washed the clothes and cut and watered the

grass. She cleaned their cars and tended to their pets. (R117)

When they moved to Florida in July or August of 2001, they moved in with his parents. They lived with his parents for about 8 months. Rutchel was still the one taking care of their oldest child while they lived with his parents. Emory's parents were not able to help out with the child because his mother is physically disabled and his father is a full time fireman working 24 hour shifts. (R117)

On September 25, 2001, three (3) months after his back surgery and during the period of time they are living with his parents in Florida, Emory fills out a form to be used in his military disability claim which provides an accurate description of the physical condition he was in at that time. (R228-230, Exhibit D-2) In response to the first question on the form that asked the claimant to describe your pain symptoms, Emory wrote:

"Lower back pain where lumbar fusion was done, it radiates down the back of both legs to my toes. Slight numbness in my lower extremities. Have to use cane to help me support myself. Sometimes I have sudden pain from my back and legs and makes me lose balance walking & sitting. Shoulder is bothering me, have burning & aching sensation from my back towards my arms & fingers."

In response to the second question on the form that asked the claimant what factors cause you to experience pain, Emory wrote:

"I cannot stand and sit too long in one position. Bending is impossible due to back injury. Reaching could be accomplished only if the object is not heavy and in close proximity to upper body. Walks with cane for about 5 minutes then have to stop and rest. Crawling & stooping is impossible due to back mostly and knee pains."

In response to the third question on the form that asked the claimant how frequently do you experience pain and how long does your pain usually last, Emory wrote:

"Everyday I have constant pain and discomfort. The intensity of pain varies from extreme to moderate."

In response to the fourth question on the form that asked the claimant what prescription or non-prescription medication do you take for relief of pain, Emory wrote:

"Oxycodone 20 mg 2 tablets every 12 hours Oxycodone 10 mg 2 tablets every 12 hours Oxycodone 5 mg 1-2 tablets every 4-6 hours Vicodin 200 mg 1-2 tablets every 6 hours Celebrex 200 mg 1 tablet every 12 hours Hydroxyzine 25 mg 2 tablets every 6 hours"

In response to the fifth question on the form that asked the claimant how effective are these medications in relieving your pain, Emory wrote:

"These medicines have provided short temporary relief of pain, but have not provided any long term relief to date."

In response to the sixth question on the form that asked the claimant to describe any side effects from your medication, Emory wrote:

"Mild headache, slight memory loss, fatigue, lack of concentration"

In response to the seventh question on the form that asked the claimant besides medication, have you required any other forms of therapy or treatment for relief of your pain, Emory wrote:

"I have various other types of treatment, to include physical therapy, Tens unit and ultra sound therapy which have only inflamed the areas of injuries & made pain worse"

In response to the eighth question on the form that asked the claimant does your pain prevent you from performing any of your usual daily activities, Emory wrote:

"Cooking/meal preparation- My wife pre-cooks meals for us especially when she has to go to work. Cannot stand for long period, back pain, migraine almost daily.

Personal care (bathing, hair care, dressing)- I can take a bath, shampoo hair & soap my body except legs. My wife has to help me put my pants on cause I can't bend & left my legs high.

Housecleaning- My wife does all housework.

Laundry- Load clothes into washer if hamper is on top of dryer.

Shopping- Accompanied by wife. Have to use electric shopping carts.

Sleeping- Sleep with plenty of pillows, constantly change position due to back pain, leg pain. Always uncomfortable with one position, sleep on and off due to pain. Sleep an average of 4 hours every night.

Driving- My wife drives me back and forth to any appointments or errands. Cannot sit too long in one position. Leg hurts & shooting pain towards back.

Yardwork, gardening- Cannot bend my back to any angle. Knee hurts and shoulders.

Social activities/hobbies-Limited, I think it's all gone. My injury has limited me on all strenuous activities. Feeling fatigue all the time plus pain.

Child care- Limited, cannot pick up my 1 year old son. Playtime is limited to table activities with him like coloring & drawing.

Home maintenance- My wife does most of household work.

Other- My wife has to help me fill out all paperwork and drive me to all appointments. Basically I'm dependent on her."

In response to the ninth question on the form that asked the claimant to provide any additional comments regarding how your impairment or pain limits your ability to work, Emory wrote:

"I have always been employed and enjoy going to work. Ever since my injuries, it has affected my ability to perform my duties on my job. I am in constant pain and cannot stand, sit, walk & concentrate for long. Kneeling, bending, crouching & stooping is impossible. My wife has to do all housework, yard work, take care of family, driving, shopping, and even has to help me take a bath & dress me cause I can't lift my legs too high." (Exhibit D-2)

Emory testified that the information he listed in Exhibit D-2 was an accurate description of his health problems and physical condition in 2001 after his back surgery. (R228-230, 232-233, 236-239)

Since his back surgery, Emory developed other health problems. He gained 100 pounds, which at the time of trial, he still had not lost. He went from 140 pounds to 240 pounds. He started having problems with his feet and had to get leg braces. He developed carpal tunnel syndrome in both hands and had to get arm braces. He developed sleep apnea and had to go to sleep every night with oxygen. (R115) Emory has been taking antidepressants since 2001 or 2002. (R235) Emory was hospitalized for acute pancreatitis for 2 weeks and almost died. (R120) He also had shoulder surgery. (R123)

Emory was discharged from the Air Force after his back surgery in June 2001 and the family

relocated to Florida in July or August 2001. (R116) Charles Lester is Emory's first cousin. (R10) Charles lived in Florida near Emory, Rutchel and their oldest child from the summer of 2001 through February of 2002. (R11) In response to how often he saw Emory, Rutchel and their oldest child on a weekly or monthly basis during this period of time, Charles testified it may not have been every week. (R12) Charles knew Emory had a back injury. Charles testified that Emory's back injury did not affect his ability to take care of their oldest child. Charles did not know of anything Emory could not do. According to Charles, Emory did everything. (R12) Charles was shown Exhibit D-2, and was asked to read what Emory had written under child care. Charles read aloud, "Child care-Limited, cannot pick up my 1 year old son. Playtime is limited to table activities with him like coloring & drawing." When confronted with his version of child care and Emory's version of child care being completely opposite of each other, Charles stated that he didn't know what to tell you on that. (R20-21) When confronted with other limitations listed by Emory in Exhibit D-2, Charles testified that he wasn't there to see him, you know, all day everyday. He didn't really know of like the entire daily routine of what went on at that time. (R21)

Emory received a letter from the Department of Veterans Affairs dated March 25, 2002, in which he was awarded total military disability benefits with a 60% disability rating to the body as a whole. (Exhibit P-5)

They lived with Emory's parents in Florida for about 8 months and then moved out. They bought a home in Florida and continued to live in Florida until November of 2003. (R117-118) While they were living in Florida on their own, their second child was born. (R118) During the period of time they were living on their own in Florida, Emory's physical condition stayed the same. Rutchel was taking care of the 2 children. Rutchel was also working, taking Emory to his doctor's appointments, taking him to physical therapy and doing the household work. (R118-119)

They left Florida in November, 2003 and moved to San Antonio, Texas because she got a promotion at work. They lived there in San Antonio until March of 2006. (R119)

Emory received a decision from the Social Security Administration dated December 16, 2003, in which he was awarded total permanent disability benefits. (Exhibit P-6) On page 2 of Exhibit P-6, there is a narrative of an examination of Emory on February 14, 2003, wherein Emory reported his symptomatology included pain said to be aching, sharp, penetrating, throbbing, tender, nagging, shooting, burning, numb and stabbing in nature with an intensity of 8. Aggravating factors were said to include sitting, standing, walking, bending, driving, coughing, sneezing and lifting. Associated signs and symptoms were said to be numbness, weakness, loss of control of the bowels and limping. Emory reported that medication had not improved his ability to function. His assessment was chronic low back pain syndrome, history of interbody fusion and facet arthropathy. Also on page 2 of Exhibit P-6, there is a narrative of an examination of Emory on July 18, 2002, wherein Emory reported that he was on continuous pain medication to keep him functional and that he had to use a cane for walking, but even then he sometimes lost his balance. He also complained of numbness and tingling to both his hands and that he had been diagnosed with carpal tunnel syndrome. Emory also reported that he was unable to do most of his activities, he had to walk using a cane and could not do household or daily activities. That his wife was helping him, he could not even dress himself without the help of his wife and if he did not take pain medication he could not function at all. On page 3 of Exhibit P-6, Dr. Syed Gilani, the examining physician during the July 18, 2002 examination, reported that his assessment of Emory was chronic low back pain secondary to injury in 1993, status post surgery with laminectomy and spinal fusion. Dr. Gilani reported that the MRI scan was consistent with findings of surgery and degenerative disc disease. Dr. Gilani reported that they had MRI scan and notes available from neurosurgery from January 2002 which

were consistent with recurrent and persistent low back and bilateral leg pain. Dr. Gilani reported that Emory's symptoms were persistent and had not changed since his previous evaluation. (His previous evaluation being in October, 2001.) Also on page 3 of Exhibit P-6, there is a report of a consultative psychological evaluation for Emory performed by Dr. David A. Loiry on July 26, 2002, wherein Emory reported that it hurts his back and legs when he sits, he has shooting pains when he walks, and it hurt too much to bend. He reported that the pain kept him awake at night, he did not do much during the day, and his wife did all the housework. Dr. Loiry reported that his diagnosis of Emory was mood disorder due to multiple physical impairments with depressed features. (Exhibit P-6)

While living in San Antonio, Emory was hospitalized for acute pancreatitus for 2 weeks and almost died. (R120) Rutchel testified that she could no longer do it all by herself. When asked what she meant by that statement she replied, working full-time, taking care of the household, going with Emory to his doctor's appointments and taking care of the children. (R120) Rutchel called her mother, who lived and worked as a postal worker in the Philippines and asked her to come to San Antonio and help her with everything. (R120) Her mother agreed to come and in order to do so had to retire early from the post office. (R121) Rutchel's mother moved in with them in November of 2005 and immediately assumed most of the household work, laundry, ironing the clothes, yard, helping with the kids, bathing and cooking. (R121) Emory's health is not getting any better and maybe getting worse. He still has back problems, sleep apnea, has to sleep with oxygen every night, leg problems, knee problems and carpal tunnel. (R122)

In March of 2006, they move from San Antonio, Texas to Columbus, Mississippi. Rutchel got another promotion and the family relocated to Columbus. (R122)

Emory and Rutchel talked about divorce in the summer of 2006. During their conversations about a divorce, Emory told Rutchel that they had \$60,000.00 in credit card debt. (R125) Emory had

handled all of the money and paid all of the bills during their entire marriage. (R189-190, 201) Emory suggested that Rutchel volunteer with her employer to go over to Iraq and work for a year, send him the money and he would pay off all of the \$60,000.00 of credit card debt. Emory was aware that other people with her company had gone to Iraq and tripled the amount of money they made here. He figured that way, if they still wanted to go through with a divorce when she got back they would not have to deal with \$60,000.00 worth of credit card debt. (R125-126) Rutchel did not want to go to Iraq, but she finally agreed and signed up to go. (R126-127)

Emory filled out a Continuing Disability Review Report with the Social Security Administration on July 7, 2007. (Exhibit D-3) On page 1 of this report, Emory listed his height and weight as 5' 6", 248 lbs.

In response to a question on page 2 of this report, if there has been a change (for better or worse) in your illnesses, injuries or conditions since the date of your last medical disability decision, Emory wrote:

"I have a broad disc bulge L3-L4, with increased spinal stenosis. Diagnosed with severe carpal tunnel syndrome (both hands). Left shoulder surgery tore tendon and decompression. Both feet have plantar fascititis. Use C pack machine for sleep apnea every night."

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